ACEC/PA

Ak ricaN Counecin O Eaomngueibs CoMmpaNiis
of Pennsylvaria

Board of Directors - Meeting Agenda (Part 2)

May 21, 2019
Kimpton Aerston Hotel
Nashville, TN
9:00am
Call to Order Frary
Action Items
2019-2020 Budget Veydt/R. Bougher
Reports
President’s Report Frary
a. Board Engagement
b. Committee Restructuring
Executive Director Report Sherman
Open Discussion Frary
Adjourn Frary

*Board will go into Executive Session following adjournment



Bupno 09 diysiejoyoss 60¢¢
R 00°58Z$ 00'589°29¢  (00°00¥'29$  |00°S69°0.$ splemy puoweiq g0€¢ 1ejoL
(zg| o000Z'L 00°009'6 00'00%'8 00°00€'Z} suonelsibay spiemy puowelqsz 80ee
01 T+ WOoJ) paonpaJ) sal4iud ajdinw pey sajuedwod maj e :uoionpal
610T 01 9A11IRdWIOD| 0058061 00'680'8 00°000'6} 00°GEZ'LE suoneunsibay spiemy puowelq z'80s¢
6T0C 03 dAIIedwod|(00°000°02)  |00°000'02 00°000'0F 00°09L'12 sdiysiosuods spiemy puoweiq i'80¢s
Splemy puowelqg 80tE
00°052°9% 00°05.'9€$  (00°0000€$  |S2°€SE'9ES 20UBIBYUOY |[Bd Vd/OFDV LOEE IBI0L
8T0T 03 dAlIedWOd| 00°06L'L 0005222 0000002 G1'€0€'92 suoneisibey 8susIajuoy ||ed Z'L0SS
8T0Z 01 dA1edw03|(00°000°}) 00°000'6 00°'000°0} 00°050'0L sdiysiosuodg aauaiejuod jjed |'L0¢E
20UAIRYUOY |[ed Vd/DFDY LOEE
00'5¢8$ 00°SEE'9PS  |00°00S'SPS  |00°80Z°PPS sousiajuog Buudg 9ogs ejoL
610Z 01 dA[4EdWOI | 00°G€8'E 00°GES'LE 00°000'8Z 00°60Z'0€ suopensibay ssuaisyuog Bunds 7908
6T0Z 01 dAIedwod|(00°000°E) 00°005%1 00°005'L) 00'666°€) sdiyssosuodg sausiejuog Bundsg 1°90ge
9%ualajuon Buudg 9o¢e
00°5.8°1$ 00°628°cE$ 00°000'2¢$ | 00022°2¢€$ Buies|y |enuuy SocS 18101
6T0C 01 9Anedwod| 00°628'2 00'628'sZ 00°000'g} 00'G66°L€ suonexnsibay Bunealy |enuuy Z'G0cE
6T0Z 01 dA13edW02|(00°000°9) 00°000'8 00°000°%} 00622's sdiyssosuodg Bupealy jenuuy L°'50£€
Buyss|y [enuuy G0g¢
($u0D ||le4 01 anQ) s8iw 5/F 1w Jad suosiad Sae 0g|(00°05L'L) 100°052'91 00°000°8} 00°'52.'61 Isepjesig silely M09 F0£E
s3iw 9/81w uad suosiad 8ne gy [(0000L°2) 00°00S'.2 00'000'SE 06'L0L'0Y Bupesyy Jeydeyn uld}sap £0SE
s&1w 9/31w Jad suosiad 8Ae gz | 00°00€'S 00°00¢'22 00°000'22 06°768°1E Bunoayy Jerdeys uisises zose
(uo) |je4 01 anq) sBiw 5/31w Jad suosiad 8ae 0g|(00°052'2) 00°05Z°94 00°000'61 00'71LE0Z Bunee serdey9 |enus) Lot
sBunesiy 00¢E
A10392.1p 10§ Spe| 000 000 000 00°006'2 K1032811q Jequisy §1.0¢
pajjoJua siaquaw 1 uonowo.d 3snJy wouy d1eqa.|(00°008) 00'00Z'} 00°000'2 00'009'} frekoy 119 93DV 600¢€
00'S¥Y'v¥$  |00'SPPOSYS  |00°000°90¥$ | L¥"LSY'6ZYS awodu|] sang 000¢ [eI0L
(uoionpal| 00'6.8'c) 00'6/8'9¢ 00000’ 0$'260'62 sanQ ajel|y £00¢
%2 /d1YsIaquIall Ul 9SeaJdUl %€ DWNSSE) 9SeaJdoUl PAeod 23} SANP %E
(uonpnpau| 00°0L0'9Z 00'0£0'9S¢  |00°000°0€E  |16'6G8°GYE $8nQ vd/D30V 200
%2 /dIYsIaquiaw Ul 35eaJdUl %€ SWNSSe) (9sealoul pleaq 29 Sanp %E
(9seauoui pJeoq ou) sanp diysiequisw aseq| 00°005y 0000625 00°000°€S 00'005'S sanQ vd/o30V 9sed 100¢
awodu| sang 000¢
anuaAay
sjuswwioyn #1a 19bpng jabpng 1ebpng 6LEL’S
0} 386png 02-6102 61-8102 [enjoy
61-810Z

1'2d 6LAd - 190png 0202-6102 Ad :M3IAIBAQ Jabpng

elueAjAsSuuad Jo sejuedwon BuiasuiBug Jo [19UN0D uedLBWY




asuadxg By 193deyn uiaIsap POy
00'06Z'v$ 00°0¥5'SL$ 00'0SZ°LL$ 68'762°9L$ asuadx3 By teydey useises ¢oc BIOL
saljddns piepueis jo ued|(0009) 0 0009 0 sejjddng By Jeydeyd ulaises g e0cy
aAle edwod| 00°0S0') 00°050°L 000 ZL'e06 fejuay wy/Av By Jerdeyd uielsel 'e0cy
#e1s 13 suayeads snjd 98eanaq 13 pooy| 00°05+'E 00°08Z'vlL 00°0€8'0L 189126l g4 By 1eydeyn uielses ¢ g0
annesedwod|(00'051) 00012 00°09€ 98'Z/1 [8Aea] By J9)deyo uleises Z'coch
— o - asuadxg By 493deyn ulelses £oCh
(00's10°5$) 00'5£0°9$ 00°0S50°LL$ 60°25¥'0L$ asuadx3g By Je)deyg |esusd Zogy 1ejol
saljddns piepuels jo ued|(0000¢) 000 00°00€ 000 sal|ddng By 103deys) jenuad § Zocy
98ueyo uojeso| 0} anp uoiINpPaJl dd1d| 000 0600 000 61°'069 [eyuay wy/Av By seadeys fenusd yzocy
#e1s g sujeads snjd Suipusne |(00°G1L'Y) 00'586'G 00°00L°0L  |0Z+0L'6 a2 By 1eydeyD [enuad £Zosy
suosiad 3ae yum aaljesedwod (a8ueyd uolledo] 0} anp uolpnpadl dd
JedA |essiy 01 sl edwod 000 0005 00°0S .ov. 16 leaea] By Jeydeyn [enyusd Z'Zosy o
asuadx3 By 183dey [eajua) Zocy
syuejunodde Aq 4o paisnipe aq |im| 000 26°L1 asuadxg Y JesA Joud LOSY
asuadxg sBunssiy 00y
s19e1u0d Alewud 40y S911010341p 40} S1S02 | 00°0GL 00°0GZ 000 000 sasuadx3 A1039011q J9qWISIY S LOY
00°Z61's0L$ |00'26€°20€$ |00°00Zv0Z$ |85°8€Z°20Z$ sainyipuadxy [joshed 000y I€I0L
JeaA |easy 01 aAnliedwod | (00°08Y) 00'02. 00°00Z'} SZ'ees $994 ||104hed S00¥
sallejes 0} aAlle|ad| 00°TLE Y loozLz'ob 00°000'9 £5'986'G WsWweINeY P00V
S1S0D SHy2Uaq UO paseq| 00°00F'S _oo.oovi - |ooo00's 0L6¥0'8 sjyauag sakoldwia £00v
saliejes 0) DAIlR[2)| 00°002'€L  |00°002'ST 00'000'2} £6'6/5'v1 sexe], |josked Z00¥
saseaoui Asejes pajoaload g Auaquury Jo uonippe jjeis| 00°008'08 loo-oog'osz  |oo000'9zL  |Z1'880'€sL seueles Loov
sainypuadx3 jjoifed 000
sainjipuadxg
00°SS.'vv$ 00°0£€'092$ |00°S25°'GLL$ |9L7Zve0LL$ Jjold $8049H
00°SSL'vv$ "oo.omm.oonw 00°S.S'SLLS |9L°Lve'0LLS SNUBASY [ejol
0192 310J3JaY1 aAeY 10U pinoys|(0005.) 000 00°0SZ 50°68/ awoou| 9SIN LS6E
00'629'1 00°008°L$ 00°6.1$ 61°789¢$ aWodU| JUdWiISaAUj 006¢ IejoL
JeaA |easiy 03 aAledWOd| 00°009 00°009 000 68'969 SPUSpPIAId 206€
Vd/230V j0 Med se Dyd Jo [erowal| 00°620't |00°00Z°} 00°SZL 98'G86'C JseIau| LO6SE
. SWOOU| JUBWISIAU| 006E
00°6¢T$ 00'688'90€$ |00°059°'00€$ |55'2Z6°LEES sBunssiy 00¢¢€ |B30L
Vd/230V Jo Auoud doy 01 anp aseasou) 0} adoy |(00°'009) 100°006"2 00'000'8 00°005'% Keq snyesibe ove
(00°041°29) 100°0¥9°22$ 00°05.°62$ 00°006°92$ BupnQ jjo9 diysiejoyss 60¢¢ [2I0L
8T0Z 01 ®AlIIedWOd| 00°006'Y 00°006'% 000 00°0LF'y ajer/suebiiiniy Buyno 4109 £'60€¢
8107 01 @A1MJedwod| 00°066°G 100°0¥2°0L 00°05L'Y 0001801 suogensiBbay Bunng 4109 z'60€¢€
8107 01 2Al1ledwod|(00°000°€ L) 00°000°Z) 00'000'52 00'089'L L sdiysiosuodg Buing J109 L'60€<




(00°052)

S99} s9onpaJ sweidoud jo unuid asnoy-ui 00°00S 00°0S. 1£°696 solddng asuaiajuos ||ed S 60SH
8T0Z 01 dAneiedwWOod| 00°059'L 00°059'L 000 80'609'} [eJUSY WH/AY 20UIRUOD [ed 1'60E
8102 01 aAljesedwod|(00°+€9'}) 00'91£'0L 0005611 G6'LLL'O) €794 99UBIB4U0D |led £60EY
8T0T 03 dAjesedwiod| 00°0 00°0§ 00°0§ G8'LL [9ABI L 92UBIBUOD |led Z'60EY
asuadx3 asuaiajuo |led Vd/O3oV 60¢P
(00's189) 00'580°2Z$  [00°006°22$  |SL'S¥0'SZ$ asuedx3 asusisjuog Bunds goey 12301
610C 01 @Allesedwiod| 00°0 00000 00000 00000 Joxeadg aousisu0) Bundg 1°80cy
610z 01 AR edw 03 |(00°000°2) T 00°006 oo.mom,m 0922 sojjddng asuaieuon Bulidg §'80¢t
o 6102 01 aAijesedwod| 00°052 00'05.'G 00°008'S ov'66lL'S lejuay wy/AV @ouaisuo) Buudg v°80cy
610Z 03 @Az edWOd| 00°6E6 00'5€8'81 00°006'L1 LE'029'/) g4 9duaisjuo) bulds £'80ey
asuadx3 aoualajuon Bundg gosty
00°009°L$ 001009428  |00°000'€Z$  |v6'990°L4$ asuadx3 Bunesly lenuuy L0€T [BIOL
uoi1e20| 00T 404 Suidiid g 1us.uN 01 aAnesedwod ({00005 '2) 00°005'G 00°000'8 €600V sanIAlOY Bunesy [enuuy 9°L0€Y
uo1e20f 0Z0Z 404 Supid ¥ 1ua1INd 03 aAle edwod| 007001 00°009 00°00S 164G salddng Buneap [enuuy §°20¢h
uo3e20| 00T 404 Sudlid g 1ua4ind 01 aAleledw ol |(00°008) 00005z 00°000'S |ejuay WH/AY Bunesyy [enuuy ¢ 20¢h
uo11e20| 0Z0Z 404 Suronid %3 1ua.IND 03 sAllRIedWOd| 00°000°C 00°000°'cl 00'000°0} 00°000'L g4 Bunssy |lenuuy ¢'20¢h
|9ARI] [|B g Si9)je1S 7 JOJ SJefJIe uo paseq| 00°00S°L 00°000‘€ 00°00G'L |9Ael] Bunosy jenuuy Z' 208y
asuadx3 Bunssy jenuuy 20€h
00700901 00°006°25$ 00°00£°2¥$ 0.'620°25$ asuadx3 spiemy puowelq 90¢y €101
sal|ddns {,ppe a|qissod 10} aseaJdu| Yiim Jeah 610z 01 aanesedwod| 000069 00°00L'8 00°002'L 1£°682'2 -osijy/seliddng spiemy puowelq §'90¢Y
JedA 6T0Z 01 @A RdWOD | 00°009'Y 0000901 00°000'9 66'vrY'0lL [ejuay Wy/AV spiemy puouleiq ¥'90<y
14e1s g suoeads snjd Suipuane suostad 8ae yym aaneledwod| 00000y 00°000°2E 00°000'82 $2°€09'2¢ g4 spiemy puoweiq £'90Sh
15ed u| [9Aea) paepuels 01 aaneledwiod| 000 00002 00°002 9l 1l |9ARI] spiemy puowelq Z'90Ey
U312 3 UsuuIm e pey AJo8a1ed yoes I se $1502 peme|(00°006'y) 00°000'2 00°006'0 98'655'L asuadxs spiemy |'90¢h
asuadxg spiemy puoweiq 90y I
(00's28'2%)  |oo'szL'vs 00°000°CL$  |S9TYLTLS asuadx3 Se1g SABHY 10D GO [EI0L
saijddns p.iepueis jo 1ed|(00°62) 000 00'6. 000 sol|ddng jsejg sileyy 309 §'S0CY
@8Ueyd uoned0| 01 3NP UOIINPaI 3dNd| 00°0 000 000 GL'1E6 [ejuaY WY/AY ISejg SIIelY JA0D #'50Eh
44e1s g suadeads snid Suipusiie|(00°008°L) 00'6ZL'y 00626°LL  [29LGLLL 9594 Iseig SIBYY IN0D £°S0CY
suosiad 8ae yum annesedwod ‘28ueyd uoi1eI0| 01 aNP UOIINPaJ 3Lid
[2ARI] OU 2J0J249Y] |BJIUID Se uoI1ed0] awes| 000 _oo.o 000 826G |9ARI] }Selq SlIeY JA0S) Z°G0EY
asuadx3 1sejg SNBPY 109 S0EP
(00'0£0's$)  |oo'ozp'cls  |00°005°8LS  |ZL'609'6L$ asuadx3 By Je3dey) uisisam OCY 18301
saljddns psepueis jo jed|(00°0v2) 0 00072 000 wm__nﬂmm By Jo1deyD WISISOM §HOEY
juepuane gupyied Suisn 10u| 000 000 000 00°00% [ejusy WH/AY BIN Je3deyd wsisam v 0Ly
}els 13 suexeads snjd a8esanaq 1@ pooy | (00°005'Y) 00°00Z'¢€l 00°00L'L1 £€8'999'81 34 FIN 491deyD uisiseM £ 7oLy
aniesedwod |(00°062) 00042 00°095 62°Z¥S [oaei] By 1o3deyn wisisep 2 ¥0SH




6T0T-8T0T 03 dAlle RdWOD| 00°00%'S 00009 00°000°€ €8'L1T'9 suoydaja) 809¥
uie8e 8uisn aq 10u pjnom 13 unsod gof 104 pasn sem|(00°001) 000 00°001 000 BuIsIaAPY 209V
3SeRUDU| %E SIPNoUl| 00'G8Y'L 0009}t 006207y  |L8L.6'/€ sy 909¥
610Z-8T0Z 031 2Anesedwod| 0009 00°09¢ 00°00¢ 01'88¢ obeysod S09¥
swayl dsiw| 00°009 00009 000 000 Bunuuid v09r
610Z-8T0Z 01 aAnesedwoo|(000z¢€) 00'08L'¢ 00°00§°€ 01'09L'Z SAJIAISG JauldU| €09
S@DI0AUI [{B 10U 1N B84 BUIJUO JOJ PasN S)D ‘PBAOWSL Dvd 3Ded | 00°00% 00°00%' v} 00000’} 6v°099'L1 sea4 uopoesuel] DI Z09¥
6T0C-8T0Z 01 aAizesedwod| 00°004 00°009 00°00S 0G'6¥S sabieyd Alujuo 99 ued LO9Y
ssuadx3g UIWPY/E2140 0091
00°0L2'8$ 00018°02$  |00°00L°2L$  |9€7LS9‘0LS sosuadx3 pue sayddng 891130 00SY 18304
6T0Z-8T0C 01 dAieiedwod | (00 0vL')) 00°09¢ 007005} 69'LEY syio/esuadxg #9140 €05
JeaA 1U244nd WoJ) J91dod 10) UOIINPaI JIBAISS MaU 000‘0TS| 0005904 10005271 00°009'¢ €2°€£8'9 juawdinbg/sayddng Ja1dod zZosy
sa)jddns 22140 ‘sa14019341p 83||(00°008) 00°002'9 00°000'Z vro8e'e seiiddns L0s¥
_ sasuadxg pue sajjddng 92140 005Y
00'5€9$ 100°029'5$ 00°5£0°S$ 1112028 asueInsu| 0ObY €101
610z 01 aAnesedwod ‘sunf uj pred|(00°S) 00'008'} 00'508'L 000 Auges sisd40 g $1039941Q YOV
6T0Z-31T0T 01 aAnesedwod| 00°066 00°025'2 00°0€S'L 1Z'8LE'L @oueInsu| oINY £ObP
6T0Z-8T0T 03 aAiesedwo|(00°00%) 00'00. 00001} 96°¢69 soueinsu| dwoy SISNIOM Z0bY
6102 01 dAiresedwod sunf ul pred| 0005 00059 00°009 000 aouelnsu| ssauisng LOovy
asuelnsu| 00y
(0o'6Lz°t$)  |00"L8E'L6LS |00°009°Z61$ |9v'69€'¥6LS asuadxg sBunesy 00¢y 1eI0L
00°0.£'€$ 00'0.1'L$ 00°001‘v$ 18'v29'0L$ sasuadx3g Aeq aane|siben Lsey BI0L
$9140132J1p| 00°008 00006 00001 1816 saiddng Aeq aane|siba §'LSeY
SjusAs| 00°0 00°000't 00°000'% Zr'96L'S g4 Aeq aaneisibe €' L5
Supjied| 0002 0002 000 9001 1ones) Aeq saneisibo z' LSS
pulysq 8ARS| 10} PIIRWIISS| 000552 00°0556'C 000 96°088'S obejsod/Bunuld Aeq aagelsiBaT |'Lgey
sasuadxg Aeq aane|siba L5eY
(000L1'Z8)  |oo'ov9'2zZ$  |00'0SL'6Z$  |8CEvE'vE$ asuadxg Bunng jj09 diysiejoysg oLey €101
uanI3| 00'svT'y 00°56v'01 00°05Z'9 441 awoou) diysiejoyds L'0LEY
diysaejoyds uodn paseq aq ||im ‘100e diysie|joyds 01 patssjsueuy yjoid
8T0Z 01 @Aleedwiod| 00'008'L 00°008°L 000 00698’} sasuadx3 BunnQ §109 18WI0 9°0LEY
810C 01 @Alesedwod| 00°SYL 00°s¥Z'y 00°00S'¢ eVLEL'T salddng BunnQ 09 §°0LEY
810¢ 01 aAneledwod|(00°0z)'}) 00°088'c 00°000'G oozer'e $294 Je/usaln Bunng 4|09 ¥'oLEY
8102 01 @Anesedwod|(00°082) 00°0.9'% 00'056'v €18l g7 BuinQ 109 g oLey
8T0C 01 2Alleiedwiod| 00°0 0008 0009 28°'9¢ loAeiL Bupno §09 Z0LEY
0052$ st diystejoyas utuw | (00°005°2) 00'005'2 00'000'0} 00°005'2) usAI9 PO diysseloyss p'oLe
asuadx3z BunnQ jjoo diyssejoyss oLy
(oo'vez$) 00°91LS5°ZL$ 00'0S.'ZL$ 61 V0LZLS asuadxg 9ouaI9juoY [|ed Vd/DIDV 60¢F [eJOL




(029'929) §¢6°12$ S0v'8p$ ze'e6L'shl anuanay 19N
0ZES Sulnowal aq ||Im| 000 000 000 000 sajouedalasig uonel|ouoday
(0Ly'9z$) 66°12$ S0v'8v$ zee6lshl snusasy Bunesedo 1N
SeTLiS G6£'8€L9 0.1°299% AN TA) sain)ipuadx3 [ejoL
SIUBIUNODIE WO} 9A19234 Uaym Sunsnipe aq [jIan | (00°000°G1) 000 00°000'G1L 000 uopejoaideq 0109
(8s¢'1$) z6e'L$ 0s.'8$ L1°618'L% sasuadx3 oiny 0195 €301
mlﬁON-wHON 01 aA11esedwod (00004 °1) 00°006 00000 St'vi8 Buppred/s|loL/ses d|2IUsA €195
ases| apIyan|(00°8sl) 00ZLE'9 00°005'9 89'268'9 aseaT 9|91YaA Z19§
6102-8107 03 anljesedwod|(00°02) 0008} 00°0SZ v9'€9l @ouBUBUIBI 3]91YSA |19
sasuadxg ony 0195
00L's$ 009°L1$ 00S°CL$ 6¥°218'6$ sosuadx3 |aaei) 0096 I€101
1uswnJI8s 73 sudiedwed diysioquiaw Jo) asealdul| 00°009'2 00°009'E 00°000'L 9,70 12Ael] pajelay diysiaquap/els S09S
1UdAD A13190S Yd Sulpn|oul [9AeJ) 83) [|e| 00°006'2 00°000'c 00°00S 8Ly asuadxy [aAed] aAne|siBa 095
000 000 000 A RAYA |8ABI] sjuspisald Vd/O3DV 2099
B S1U3AS DIDVYN/D3DV [IV| 000 00°000°LL 00°000°LL 6v'vLe'9 sasuadx3 |oAelL DIIVN/OIOV L09S
sasuadxy [oAed] 0095
(00008'22)  |00°002'26$  |00°000'0ZL$ |L0°0LO‘9LLS S991AI9S [BUOISSD)0.d 0SS 18I0
Buisn Ajpusaund se Auedwod swes ‘u8isap oiydesd snjd 10e43U02| 00°008'% 00°008'¥9 00°000'09 00°000°SS suoneoy d1and $zss
AsAIns syjouaq g Alejes Jo uona|dwod| 007006 ) 00°00G°} 000 000 Kamung joussiu| 255
SIOPUDA JUB4IND 3SN 01 §1502((00°001L'6) 00°006'S 00°000°G1L 66°LLY'S Lipeindwod £256
Woaxa yum uoissnasip 4ad|(00°000'04)  00°000°0L 000000z  |85'80G'SE URUNOIY ZZSS
WwodXa yum uolssnasip 4ad|(00°000'SL)  |00000°04 00000'6Z  |0$'680°02 [eBa 1285
S92IAISS jBUOISSAJ0Id 0ZSS
(00°056%) 00'050'51$ 00°000°9L% L1evL'SLS suoduasqng/seng 0425 IejoL
18 x0qdoJq ‘diysiaquIalN JNOA| 00°0 00°000'6 00'000'6 £1'680'6 suonduosans €1z§
VIHd ‘3vSV ‘4aquieys| 00002 00002'z 00°005'L 0005} sdiyssoqwis | Jodd Z1Z§
SWal snolieA g §1d|(00°059'1) 00058'¢ 00°005'S 00°€06'% suopduosqng uonedland 112g
mco_un_._own_:m\mo:h_ (1] %A
sjeiso1ew uneylew | (00°008) 00°000'2 00005 000 (19Aes}-uOU) pajelOY-JoqWBN 00LS
219 ‘X2gam ‘92104 yse] | 00'05Z 00052 00°00S 09'6%9 sasuadxg aanIwwod 000s
Jsiw| 00°002°1L 00002} 000 000 syjuswsroidwy Jueus) o6y
uoneslsi3as 8uiAqqol snid yruow Jad £9T$ 1e wuy 1oy Bully| 00°06€'C 0000L'C 00°0}€ 00791 sasuadx3 Buikqqo 0zey
4e1s|(00°00¥'2) 00°00}'} 00°005°¢ veesy'e sBunea/reQ Joid 016V
1834334 3|qissod 404 | ppe 0OSTS S3PNoul|(00°00€'8)  |00°002'E 0000§'4L V69T sasuadx3 pieog 006
00'525'9% _oo.oow.mmw 00'5.9'29% 68°20€'65$ osuadx3 ujwpPY/3210 0097 BI0L
pasn jou| 000 000 000 00'6Z1 $894 jueg 09V JUsunsaAU| 309F
pasn 1ou|(00°000'}) 000 00°000°} loo'se §)S0Q SAS 9SIN J3LIO 609




ACEC/PA

ARIE AN Coust s O ENGoMEb e, CospaNtnse

of Permmsyloania

BOA OF DIRECTORS ROL ESPONSIBILITIES

PRESIDENT

Executive Committee Member

Alternate National Director

Member Nominating Committee

ACEC PAC Committee

PaCE PAC Committee

PennDOT Task Force Committee Member
Annual Review of Executive Director

Noohkowh =

PRESIDENT-ELECT

Executive Committee Member

Member Nominating Committee

Member Budget Committee

Chair of Bylaws Committee

Planning Cabinet

ACEC PAC Committee

PaCE PAC Committee

PennDOT Task Force Committee Member
Annual Review of Executive Director

©CONOOR®N =

VICE PRESIDENT

1. Executive Committee Member
2. Chair of Membership Committee
3. ACEC PAC Committee

4. PaCE PAC Committee

TREASURER

1. Executive Committee Member
2. Chair of Budget Committee

3. ACEC PAC Committee

4. PaCE PAC Committee

SECRETARY

Executive Committee Member
Member Budget Committee

Vice Chair of Membership Committee
ACEC PAC Committee

PaCE PAC Committee

o=

04/30/2019



ACEC/PA

Adtnetoan Caotsa oo M o e iesa, Loty

f Permmesvivania

IMMEDIATE PAST PRESIDENT

Executive Committee Member

National Director

Chair of Nominating Committee

ACEC PAC Committee

PaCE PAC Committee

PennDOT Task Force Committee Member
Annual Review of Executive Director

A ol

~

CHAPTER PRESIDENT

1. Establish Chapter's meeting schedule and solicit speakers; collaborating with Chapter VP and ED
2. Promote membership’s participation in ACEC PAC and PaCE PAC

CHAPTER VICE PRESIDENT

1. In the absence of the Chapter President, shall assume the duties of the Chapter President
2. Membership Committee
3. Engineering Careers & Workforce Development Committee chapter leader

AT-LARGE DIRECTOR
1. Spring Conference Planning Committee
2. Projects assigned by President/ED

AT-LARGE DIRECTOR (YEAR 2)

1. Membership Committee
2. Spring Conference Planning Committee
3. Projects assigned by President/ED

LEGISLATIVE OUTREACH GROUP CHAIR

1. Ex-Officio Executive Committee
2. Ex-Officio ACEC PAC Committee
3. Ex-Officio PaCE PAC Committee

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

1. Ex-Officio Executive Committee
2. Ex-Officio ACEC PAC Committee
3. Ex-Officio PaCE PAC Committee

04/30/2019



AMERICAN COUNCIL OF ENGINEERING COMPANIES OF PENNSYLVANIA
WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY

ARTICLE 1
PURPOSE

The American Council of Engineering Companies of Pennsylvania (the “Organization” or
“ACEC/PA”) requires all directors, employees, and volunteers to conduct the business of the
ACEC/PA in an ethical, honest, and legal manner. It is the policy of the Organization to comply with
all applicable international, federal, state and local laws in the conduct of the Organization’s
business. The purpose of this policy is to establish a procedure for Organization employees and
volunteers to report illegal or dishonest activity or other misconduct involving the Organization’s
financial or business affairs (hereafter referred to as “misconduct™).

Such misconduct may involve an employee, board member, volunteer or outside persons or
firms doing business with the Organization. Examples of misconduct include but are not limited to,
violations of international, federal, state or local laws, billing for services not performed, theft or
inappropriate use of Organization funds or property, fraudulent financial reporting or other misconduct
involving the Organization’s financial or business affairs, and misuse of position to enrich him or
herself or friends, family, or associates.

ARTICLE I1
APPOINTMENT OF WHISTLEBLOWER CONTACT

The Executive Director of the Organization, or if the employee, board member, volunteer, or
outside person is not comfortable speaking with the Executive Director, any member of the Board shall
serve as the “Whistleblower Contact” who will receive whistleblower complaints and coordinate
investigations of those complaints. The Whistleblower Contact must be free to conduct/coordinate the
investigation without fear of retaliation and has sufficient authority to ensure the investigation is not
compromised or influenced by other parties. Additionally, the Whistleblower Contact must be free
from conflicts of interest and have the capability and capacity to investigate, report, and respond to
complaints. The Whistleblower Contact will take appropriate measures to ensure the investigation
remains free from interference and is carried out in a timely and thorough manner. The Whistleblower
Contact, when appropriate, may enlist other members of management, employees, volunteers or
outside entities to aid in the investigation of complaints. These individuals must be free from conflicts
of interest and have the capability and capacity to investigate the complaint or portions of the complaint
as determined by the Whistleblower Contact.

ARTICLE III
EMPLOYEE REPORTING PROCESS

If an employee or volunteer has knowledge of or concern about misconduct, the employee
should report the concern or complaint to the Whistleblower Contact. Any complaint of misconduct
involving the Whistleblower Contact should be reported to the President of the Board of Directors. The
Executive Director’s contact information is: Leeann Sherman, 800.651.1946; Leeann@acecpa.org.
The President of the Board’s contact information is: Eric Frary, Michael Baker International, 215-327-
0564; efrary(@mbakerintl.com.

A6500683:2 5.09.19 1



Reports of misconduct may be oral or written. No particular format is necessary. However,
all complaints should include as much information as possible to permit a thorough and complete
evaluation of it. This includes material evidence, names of persons able to corroborate the accusation,
if possible, and how to contact the complainant to assure anonymity, if anonymity is desired. The
recipient of a complaint is responsible for ensuring that all information regarding the complaint is
properly recorded and thus becomes the formal record of the complaint. A copy of any written
complaint will be provided to the complainant for confirmation of accuracy. (Note: anonymity or an
orally-registered complaint may hinder the ability of the Organization to investigate the matter in a
timely and effective manner.)

ARTICLE IV
INVESTIGATION

Notice of all complaints received under this policy (unless asserted against the Whistleblower
Contact) will be promptly submitted to the Whistleblower Contact who is responsible for overseeing
the investigation and coordinating corrective actions. The Whistleblower Contact will determine the
level of investigation the complaint warrants and shall perform the investigation. He or she is
responsible for determining if the facts support or do not support the complaint. The Whistleblower
Contact will provide a written explanation of the decision to the person who made the complaint.

The Whistleblower Contact or his or her designee is required to report to the Organization’s
Board of Directors (the “Board™), and where appropriate to the appropriate authorities, the results of
all investigations.

For a complaint involving the Whistleblower Contact, the Organization’s President of the
Board will fill the role of the Whistleblower Contact and perform the responsibilities identified in
the preceding paragraphs.

A person who believes that his or her report of illegal or dishonest activities or other
misconduct involving the Organization’s business or financial affairs is not receiving appropriate
attention by the Whistleblower Contact may contact the Organization President of the Board. If the
report of illegal or dishonest activities is in regard to the President of the Board, the person may contact
any member of the Organization’s Board.

ARTICLE V
EMPLOYEE/VOLUNTEER RESPONSIBILITY

An employee/volunteer whistleblower who makes a complaint must exercise sound judgment
and act without malice and in good faith to avoid baseless allegations or frivolous complaints. The
whistleblower is not responsible, nor is the whistleblower the appropriate party, for investigating the
activity or for determining fault or corrective measures.

ARTICLE VI
EMPLOYEE/VOLUNTEER PROTECTION

Whistleblower protections are provided in two important areas - confidentiality and protection
against adverse action in the form of retaliation.

A6500683:2 5.09.19 2



Insofar as is reasonably possible, the confidentiality of the whistleblower will be maintained.
However, at the discretion of the Whistleblower Contact or the President of the Board, the
whistleblower’s identity may have to be disclosed to conduct a thorough investigation or to comply
with applicable laws.

The Organization will not take adverse action against a whistleblower who acts in good faith.
Good faith means that a person has reasonable grounds to believe that the reported allegations of
misconduct are likely true. Protection from adverse action includes, but is not limited to, protection
from employment action such as termination, compensation decreases, poor work assignments and
threats of physical harm. Any employee whistleblower who believes he or she is being retaliated
against should contact the Whistleblower Contact or the Organization President of the Board.

Any employee or volunteer, however, who does not act in good faith and who knowingly files
a false or materially misleading report of misconduct, is not entitled to the protections listed above and
is subject to disciplinary action.

ARTICLE VII
QUESTIONS

Employees with questions regarding this policy should contact the Organization Executive
Director.

A6500683:2 5.09.19 3



AMERICAN COUNCIL OF ENGINEERING COMPANIES OF PENNSYLVANIA
GIFT ACCEPTANCE POLICY

This gift acceptance policy (this “Policy™) establishes guidelines governing the acceptance of
gifts by American Council of Engineering Companies of Pennsylvania (“ACEC/PA”) for the benefit
of any of its operations, programs, or services, and provides guidance to prospective donors and their
advisors when making gifts to the ACEC/PA.

ARTICLE 1
GUIDELINES

1.1 The ACEC/PA’s chairperson, executive director, authorized board members and staff,
and in limited circumstances designated volunteers, shall have the authority to solicit and accept gifts
on behalf of the ACEC/PA in compliance with this Policy.

1.2 The ACEC/PA’s acceptance of any gift is at the discretion of the ACEC/PA. The
ACEC/PA will not accept any gift:

(a) unless it can be used or expended consistent with the ACEC/PA’s purpose and
mission; and

(b) if it may potentially jeopardize the ACEC/PA’s tax-exempt status or violate the
ACEC/PA’s policies, or local, state, or federal laws.

1.3 No irrevocable gift, whether outright or life-income in character, will be accepted if
under any reasonable set of circumstances, the gift would jeopardize the donor’s financial security.

1.4 The board will review any gifts with restrictions and will not accept gifts with
restrictions that:

(a) would result in a violation of the ACEC/PA’s articles of incorporation or loss
of its tax-exempt status; or

(b) are otherwise found inappropriate or inadvisable.

ARTICLE II
GIFT TYPES

2.1 Cash. The ACEC/PA will accept all unrestricted gifts of cash or cash equivalents,
regardless of amount. Checks or money orders must be made payable to the ACEC/PA and may not be
made payable to any individual representing the ACEC/PA.

2.2 In-Kind Gifts. The ACEC/PA will accept, in its discretion, gifts of in-kind services or
goods, including tangible personal property, if they directly serve a need of the ACEC/PA. Otherwise,
acceptance of an in-kind gift will be at the discretion of the board.

2.3 The ACEC/PA will generally accept unrestricted, tangible personal property if
determined to be in the best interest of the ACEC/PA. Tangible personal property may include art,

A6498652:1 10.16.18 1



furniture, jewelry, equipment, cars, boats, and any other personal item owned by a donor. In deciding
whether or not to accept tangible personal property, the ACEC/PA will consider:

(2)
(b)
(©)
(d)

The carrying costs for the property, including maintenance and repairs;
The cost of insurance;
Storage and transportation costs; and

The marketability and cost of selling.

2.4 Publicly Traded Securities. The ACEC/PA will accept readily marketable securities.

Marketable securities are likely to be sold immediately by the ACEC/PA.

2.5 Gifts Subject to Review. Certain other gifts must be reviewed by the board of directors

prior to acceptance. Gifts subject to review include but are not limited to:

(2)

liability companies;
(b)
(©)
(d)
(e)
®
€]
(h)

Closely held securities, including interests in limited partnerships and limited

Real property;

Life insurance policies;
Life estate gifts;
Annuities;
Endowments;
Restricted gifts; and

Gifts whose source or value is not transparent.

2.6 In conducting the review, the board must consider any obligations created or liabilities
posed by the gift for the ACEC/PA, including but not limited to:

(a)
(b)
(©
(d)
(e)
()
(8

A6498652:1 10.16.18

Marketability of the gift;

Carrying costs;

Appraisal costs;

Ongoing fiduciary obligations;

Environmental liabilities for gifts of real property;
Issues with title;

Reputational harm from accepting the gift; and



(h) Restrictions on use of the gift, both imposed by the donor and legally, such as
conditions, covenants, easements, liens, or encumbrances.

ARTICLE III
USE OF LEGAL COUNSEL

3.1 Legal counsel shall be engaged where appropriate when the ACEC/PA is determining
the acceptability of a gift. Review by counsel is recommended for:

(a) Gifts of securities subject to buy-sell agreements or other restrictions;

b) Gifts involving contracts or other legal documents requiring the ACEC/PA to
assume an obligation;

© Gifts naming the ACEC/PA as a trustee or imposing a fiduciary obligation;

(d Gifts with potential conflicts of interest that have the potential for IRS

sanctions;
) Gifts of real estate;
® Gifts establishing an endowment fund; and
. (2) Other instances in which the board of directors deem the use of counsel
appropriate.

3.2 The ACEC/PA will not provide advice about the tax or other treatment of gifts and will
encourage all prospective donors to seek guidance from their own legal counsel and financial advisors
relating to their gifts. Any legal counsel engaged by the ACEC/PA is employed by the ACEC/PA and
does not act on behalf of the donor.

ARTICLE 1V
MISCELLANEQOUS PROVISIONS

4.1 Valuation of Gifts Other Than Cash and Publicly Traded Securities. Where appraisals
are needed to determine the value of the gift, the donor shall in most circumstances be responsible for
obtaining an independent appraisal.

4.2 Acknowledgment of Gifts. The ACEC/PA will provide acknowledgments to donors
meeting the Internal Revenue Code’s substantiation requirements for property received by the
ACEC/PA as a gift, including completing required tax forms where applicable, such as Form 1098-C
for Contributions of Motor Vehicles, Boats, Airplanes. The Executive Director shall be responsible for
providing acknowledgments and completing necessary forms.

4.3 Fees. The ACEC/PA will not compensate, whether through commissions, finders’ fees,
or other means, any third party for directing a gift or donor to it.

4.4 IRS Filings. The ACEC/PA will complete all filings required by the IRS of the

ACEC/PA in connection with gifts received by the ACEC/PA. The ACEC/PA is not responsible for
completing any IRS filings required of the donor.

A6498652:1 10.16.18 3



AMERICAN COUNCIL OF ENGINEERING COMPANIES OF PENNSYLVANIA
RECORDS RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION POLICY

ARTICLE I
PURPOSE

1.1 The purpose of this Records Retention and Destruction Policy (this “Policy”) is to
protect the interests of American Council of Engineering Companies of Pennsylvania (the “Non-Profit”

or “ACEC/PA”) by establishing guidelines, procedures, and requirements for the:

(a) Retention and maintenance of any Records (as defined in Section 2.1)
necessary for the Non-Profit to achieve its mission and comply with applicable law.

(b) Destruction of Records that do not need to be or no ionger need to be retained.
(©) Non-Profit’s board of directors, officers, employees, and volunteers
(collectively, the “Constituents”) to understand their responsibilities concerning Record retention and

destruction.

1.2 Federal and state law requires the Non-Profit to retain certain Records, usually for a
specific amount of time. Generally, Records contain information that;

(a) Serves as the Non-Profit’s organizational memory; and/or
(b) Has enduring business value (for example, it provides a record of a transaction,
evidences the Non-Profit’s rights or obligations, protects the Non-Profit’s legal interests, or ensures
operational continuity).
1.3 The accidental or intentional destruction of these Records during the retention periods
specified in this Policy could result in the following consequences for the Non-Profit and/or its
Constituents:

(a) Fines and penalties;

(b) Loss of legal rights and privileges that the Records may evidence and help
preserve;

() Obstruction of justice charges;

(d) Inference of spoliation of evidence and spoliation tort claims;
(e) Contempt of court charges;

® Serious disadvantages in litigation; and

(g) Reputational damage.

1.4 This Policy is in accordance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, under which itis a
crime to change, conceal, falsify, or destroy any record with the intent to impede or obstruct any official

A6498349:2 10.16.18 1



or government proceeding. Therefore, this Policy is part of an organization-wide system for the review,
retention, and destruction of Records that the Non-Profit creates or receives in the course of its
operations.

ARTICLE 11
TYPES OF RECORDS

2.1 Records. A “Record” is any type of record, file, document, sample, and other form of
information created, received, or transmitted in the course of the Non-Profit’s operations, regardless of
physical format, such as those listed in the Records Retention Schedule attached as Appendix A to this
Policy (the “Retention Schedule”). Records may include:

(a) Appointment book and calendar entries;

b) Audio and video recordings;

() Beneficiary information;

(d) Computer programs;

(e) Contracts;

® Electronic files;

(g2) Emails;

(h) Employee and director handbooks;

(i) Fundraising and donation records, including donor information;
) Grant applications;

(k) Handwritten notes;

Q) Invoices;

(m)  Letters and other correspondence;

(n) Memory in cell phones and PDAs;

(0) Online postings on social media platforms and websites;
(p) Performance reviews; and

(@ Voicemails.

2.2 Disposable Information. “Disposable Information™ is information in any form that
would normally be a Record, except that it:

(a) Serves a temporary useful purpose or no purpose;

A6498349:210.16.18 2



(b Is no longer required for the operation of the Non-Profit; and
(©) Is not required by law to be retained by the Non-Profit.

2.3 Disposable Information may be safely destroyed without violating this Policy.
Examples may include:

(a) Duplicates of originals that have not been annotated;

)} Preliminary drafts of letters, memoranda, reports, worksheets, and informal
notes that do not represent significant steps or decisions in the preparation of an official record;

(c) Books, periodicals, manuals, training binders, and other printed materials
obtained from sources outside of the Non-Profit and retained primarily for reference purposes; and

(d) Spam and junk mail.

2.4 Confidential Information Belonging to Others. Any confidential information that a
Constituent may have obtained from a source outside of the Non-Profit, such as a previous employer or
through outside volunteer activities, must not, so long as such information remains confidential, be
disclosed or used by the Non-Profit. Unsolicited confidential information submitted to the Non-Profit
should be refused, returned to the sender where possible, and deleted if received in an electronic format.

ARTICLE III
MANDATORY COMPLIANCE

3.1 Compliance. Each Constituent must comply with this Policy, the Retention Schedule,
and any litigation hold communications. Failure to comply with this Policy may subject the Non-Profit
and its Constituents to serious civil and/or criminal liability. An employee’s failure to comply with this
Policy may result in disciplinary sanctions, including suspension or termination.

3.2 Reporting Policy Violations. The Non-Profit is committed to enforcing this Policy as
it applies to all forms of Records. The effectiveness of the Non-Profit’s efforts, however, depends
largely on the compliance of its Constituents. If you reasonably suspect that you or someone else may
have violated this Policy, you should report the incident immediately to the Administrator of the Policy.
If you do not report inappropriate conduct, the Non-Profit may not become aware of a possible violation
of this Policy and may not be able to take appropriate corrective action. No one will be subject to, and
the Non-Profit prohibits, any form of discipline, reprisal, intimidation, or retaliation for reporting
incidents of inappropriate conduct of any kind, pursuing any record destruction claim, or cooperating
in related investigations.

ARTICLE IV
ADMINISTRATION

4.1 Administrator. The Non-Profit’s Executive Director (the “Administrator”) shall be in
charge of the administration of this Policy. The Administrator’s responsibilities include:

(a) Identifying the Records that the Non-Profit must or should retain;

A6498349:2 10.16.18 3



(b) Determining, after consulting with outside counsel, the proper retention period
for each Record type;

© Planning, developing, and prescribing Record retention and disposal policies,
systems, standards, and procedures;

(D Ensuring this Policy and any retention procedures comply with privacy laws
that govern the handling of Records concerning the Non-Profit’s employees, volunteers, beneficiaries,
and donors;

(e) Periodically reviewing this Policy and monitoring compliance by Constituents;
® Training Constituents on their obligations under the Policy;

(g2) Modifying the Retention Schedule as needed to comply with changes in law
and to add or revise Record categories to reflect changes in the Non-Profit’s operations;

(h) Tracking the volume of Records destroyed under the Retention Schedule and
the Records stored electronically; and

@) Ensuring that Records created or retained by the Non-Profit’s volunteers are
returned to the Non-Profit for retention or destruction at the end of each volunteer project.

4.2 Constituents. Each Constituent must acknowledge that the Constituent has received,
read, understood, and agrees to comply with this Policy, as described in Section 7.1. Each Constituent
shall assist the Administrator, as requested, in the implementation and compliance with this Policy.

4.3 Volunteers. Upon completion of each project, each volunteer shall produce Records as
requested by the Administrator. Volunteers shall not be required to independently retain Records
identified in the Retention Schedule after the completion of their project.

ARTICLE V
HOW TO RETAIN, STORE, AND DESTROY RECORDS

5.1 Retention. Any Records that are part of any categories listed in the Retention Schedule
must be retained by the Constituent for the amount of time set forth in the Retention Schedule. A Record
must not be retained beyond the period set forth in the Retention Schedule unless a valid business reason
(or a litigation hold or other special situation) calls for its continued retention. If any Constituent is
unsure whether to retain a certain Record, the Constituent should contact the Administrator.

5.2 Storage. The Non-Profit’s Records must be stored in a safe, secure, and accessible
manner in accordance with this Policy. Any Records, including the Non-Profit’s governing documents
and financial files, that are essential to the Non-Profit’s operations during an emergency, and any
Records requiring permanent retention, must be duplicated and/or backed up at least [FREQUENCY]
and maintained off site.

5.3 Destruction. The Non-Profit’s Administrator or his/her designee is responsible for the

continuing process of identifying the Records that have met their required retention period and
supervising the destruction process. For example:

A6498349:2 10.16.18 4



(@ When the retention period for a particular Record expires (as specified in the
Retention Schedule), the Administrator shall destroy the Record in accordance with this Policy.

(b) The destruction of confidential, financial, and personnel-related physical
Records must be conducted by shredding if possible.

(©) Non-confidential physical Records may be destroyed by recycling.

(d) The destruction of electronic Records must be coordinated with the IT
department.

(e) Disposable Information may be discarded or deleted.

® The destruction of Records must stop immediately upon notification from the
Administrator that a litigation hold is to begin because the Non-Profit may be involved in a lawsuit or
an official investigation, as described in Section 5.4.

54 Litigation Holds and Other Special Situations. The Non-Profit requires all Constituents
to comply fully with the procedures in this Policy and with the Retention Schedule. All Constituents
should note the following general exceptions to any stated destruction schedule:

(a) Litigation Holds. If you believe or the Administrator informs you that the Non-
Profit’s Records and Disposable Information (“Litigation Hold Records”) are relevant to current
litigation, potential litigation (that is, a dispute that could result in litigation), government investigation,
audit, or other event, you must preserve and not delete, dispose, destroy, or change those Litigation
Hold Records, including emails, until the Administrator determines those Litigation Hold Records are
no longer needed. This exception is referred to as a litigation hold or legal hold, and replaces any
previously or subsequently established destruction schedule for those Litigation Hold Records. If you
believe this exception may apply, or have any questions regarding whether it may possibly apply,
please contact the Administrator.

(b) Special Situations. You may be asked to suspend any routine disposal
procedures for Records and Disposable Information in connection with certain other types of events,
such as the merger of the Non-Profit with another organization or the replacement of the Non-Profit’s
information technology systems.

55 Privacy. The Administrator must ensure that all retention and destruction procedures
comply with any relevant federal or state privacy laws.

5.6 Exceptions. Exceptions to these rules and the Retention Schedule may be granted only
by the President of the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE VI
INTERNAL AUDITS AND EMPLOYEE QUESTIONS

6.1 Internal Review and Policy Audits. The Administrator will periodically review this
Policy and its procedures with legal counsel and the Non-Profit’s certified public accountant, and audit
employee files and hard drives to ensure that:

(a) The Non-Profit is in full compliance with this Policy.

A6498349:2 10.16.18 5



(b) The procedures under this Policy are reasonable and effective for the Non-
Profit’s current operations.

() The Policy complies with relevant new or amended regulations.
6.2 Questions About the Policy. Any questions about this Policy should be referred to the
Administrator (800.651.1946; leeann@acecpa.org), who is in charge of administering, enforcing, and

updating this Policy.

[ACKNOWLEDGMENT PAGE FOLLOWS]

A6498349:2 10.16.18 6



I {Constituent name), acknowledge that on
(date), I received a copy of American Council of Engineering Companies of Pennsylvania’s (the “Non-
Profit”) Records Retention and Destruction Policy (this “Policy”) and that | read it, understood it, and
agree to comply with it. I understand that the Non-Profit has the maximum discretion permitted by law
to interpret, administer, change, modify, or delete this Policy at any time with or without notice. No
statement or representation by a supervisor or manager or any other employee, whether oral or written,
can supplement or modify this Policy. Changes can be made only if approved in writing by the Board
of Directors of the Non-Profit. I also understand that any delay or failure by the Non-Profit to enforce
any policy or rule will not constitute a waiver of the Non-Profit’s right to do so in the future. 1
understand that neither this policy nor any other communication by management representatives or
any other employee, whether oral or written, is intended in any way to create a contract of employment.

For employees only: I understand that, unless [ have a written employment agreement signed
by an authorized representative of the Non-Profit, [ am employed at will and this Policy does not
modify my at-will employment status. If I have a written employment agreement signed by an
authorized representative of the Non-Profit and this Policy conflicts with the terms of my employment
agreement, I understand that the terms of my employment agreement will control.

Signature

Printed Name

Date

Acknowledgement Page to ACEC/PA Records Retention and Destruction Policy



APPENDIX A

RECORD RETENTION SCHEDULE

The Non-Profit establishes retention or destruction schedules or procedures for specific
categories of records. This is done to ensure legal compliance and accomplish other objectives, such
as protecting intellectual property and controlling costs. Each Constituent should give special
consideration to the categories of documents listed in the record retention schedule below. Avoid
retaining a record if there is no business reason for doing so and consult with the Administrator if
unsure.

RECORDS RETENTION PERIOD

Personnel Records

Benefits descriptions per employee 4 years

Employee applications and resumes 3 years after decision not to hire or termination

of employment

Employee benefit plans subject to ERISA 6 years from when the record was required to be

(includes plans regarding health and dental disclosed

insurance, 401K, long-term disability, and Form

5500)

Employee offer letters (and other 3 years after decision not to hire or termination

documentation regarding hiring, promotion, of employment

demotion, transfer, lay-off, termination, or
selection for training)

Records relating to background checks on 5 years from when the background check is
employees and volunteers conducted
Employment contracts; employment and 4 years from their last effective date

termination agreements

Employee records with information on pay rate | 3 years from date of employee’s termination
or weekly compensation

Hazardous material exposures Duration of employment + 30 years

I-9 Forms 3 years after date of hire or 1 year after
employment is terminated, whichever is later

3 years after date of hire for recruiters and
referrers for a fee

Job descriptions; performance goals and Termination + 2 years

reviews; garnishment records

Employee tax records 4 years from the date tax is due or paid,
whichever is later

Medical exams required by law Duration of employment or volunteering + 30
years

A6498349:2 8



RECORDS

RETENTION PERIOD

Pension plan and retirement records

Permanent

Pre-employment tests and test results

1 year from date of decision not to hire or
termination of employment

Salary schedules; ranges for each job
description

3 years

Time reports

Termination + 3 years

Workers’ compensation records

Duration of employment + 30 years

Volunteer position descriptions

Termination + 2 years

Volunteer offer letters (and other
documentation regarding the selection and
activity of volunteers)

1 year from date of making record or action
involved, whichever is later; or 1 year from date
of involuntary termination

Payroll

Records

Payroll registers (gross and net)

3 years from the last date of entry

Time cards; piece work tickets; wage rate
tables; pay rates; work and time schedules;
earnings records; records of additions to or
deduction from wages; records on which wage
computations are based

3 years from termination of employment

W-2 and W-4 Forms and Statements

As long as the document is in effect + 4 years

Corporate Records

Articles of Incorporation; By-laws Permanent
Annual corporate filings and reports to secretary | Permanent
of state and attorney general

Board policies, resolutions, and meeting Permanent
minutes; committee meeting minutes; annual

member meeting minutes

Conflict of interest disclosure forms 7 years
Charitable solicitation applications Permanent

status as charitable organization)

Contracts Permanent if current (7 years if expired)
Licenses and permits Permanent

Construction documents Permanent

Emails 3 years

Fixed Asset Records Permanent

IRS Form 1023 (Application for tax-exempt Permanent

A6498349:2 10.16.18




COIT! espondence

RECORDS RETENTION PERIOD
IRS determination letter and related Permanent
correspondence
Performance reports on programs and activities | Permanent
Sales and purchase records 3 years
State sales tax exemption documents Permanent
State determination letter and related Permanent

Fundraising Records

Donor acknowledgment letters

7 years

Donor contact information

5 years from last donation

materials, fundraising scripts, licenses for
raffles and other regulated games of chance

Records of unrestricted gifts made directly to 7 years
organization or through third-party fundraisers

Records of restricted gifts, trusts, and Permanent
endowments made directly to organization or

through third-party fundraisers

Fundraising materials, including all distributed | 7 years

Private grants, including proposals, agreements,
and grantee reports

7 years from date of final expenditure report or
as required in grant document

Government grants, including proposals,
agreements, and grantee reports

7 years from date of final expenditure report or
as required in grant document

Records of disposition of donated goods,
including sale of securities and property

7 years

Accounting and Finance

Accounts Payable and Receivables ledgers and | 7 years
schedules

Annual audit reports and financial statements Permanent
Annual plans and budgets 3 years
Bank statements; cancelled checks; deposit slips | 7 years
Business expense records 7 years
Cash receipts 3 years
Check registers Permanent
Electronic fund transfer documents 7 years
Erriployee expense reports 7 years

AG6498349:2 10.16.18 10




RECORDS RETENTION PERIOD
General ledgers Permanent
Journal entries 7 years
Invoices 7 years
Petty cash vouchers 3 years

Tax Records

Annual tax filing for the organization (IRS Permanent
Form 990 in the US and state equivalent)

Earnings records from unrelated business 7 years
taxable income (UBTI)

Filings of fees paid to professionals (IRS Form | 7 years
1099 in the US and state equivalent)

Payroll tax returns and withholdings 7 years
State unemployment tax records Permanent

Legal and Insurance Records

Officers, General Liability, Property, and
Workers” Compensation)

Appraisals Permanent
Copyright registrations Permanent
Environmental studies Permanent
Insurance claims/applications Permanent
Insurance disbursements and denials Permanent
Insurance contracts and policies (Directors and | Permanent

Leases 6 years after expiration
Patents; patent applications; supporting Permanent

documents

Real estate documents (including loan and Permanent

mortgage contracts, deeds)

Stock and bond records Permanent

Trademark registrations, evidence of use Permanent

documents

Trust documents Permanent

Warranties

Duration of warranty + 7 years

A6498349:2 10.16.18

11




RECORD RETENTION GUIDE FOR BUSINESS

In business, good record keeping is essential not only for tax reporting purposes but also for the success
of the company. The guidelines below give retention periods for the most common business records.

ACCOUNTING RECORDS RETENTION PERIOD
Accounts payable 7 years

Accounts receivable 7 years

Audit Reports Permanent

Chart of accounts Permanent

Depreciation schedules Permanent

Expense records 7 years

Financial statements (annual) Permanent

Fixed asset purchases Permanent

General Ledger Permanent

Inventory records 7 years

Loan payment schedules 7 years

Purchase orders (1 copy) 7 years

Sales records 7 years

Tax returns Permanent

BANK RECORDS RETENTION PERIOD
Bank reconciliations 2 years

Bank statements 7 years

Canceled checks 7 years

Electronic payment records 7 years

CORPORATE RECORDS RETENTION PERIOD
Board minutes Permanent

Bylaws Permanent

Business licenses Permanent

Contracts - major Permanent

Contracts - minor Life + 4 years

Insurance policies Life + 3 years
Leases/mortgages Permanent
Patents/trademarks Permanent

Shareholder records Permanent

Stock registers Permanent

Stock transactions Permanent
EMPLOYEE RECORDS RETENTION PERIOD
Benefit plans Permanent

Employee files (ex-employees) 7 years

Employment applications 3 years

Employment taxes 7 years

Payroll records 7 years

Pension/profit sharing plans Permanent

REAL PROPERTY RECORDS RETENTION PERIOD
Construction records Permanent

Leasehold improvements Permanent

Lease payment records Life + 4 years

Real estate purchases Permanent

These guidelines are meant to be good rules of thumb and do not correspond in every case to regulatory
requirements. If you have questions about a specific subset of records, please contact your legal counsel
or accountant.



AMERICAN COUNCIL OF ENGINEERING COMPANIES OF PENNSYLVANIA
CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY

ARTICLE 1
PURPOSE, SCOPE, AND APPLICATION

1.1 The purpose of this Conflict of Interest Policy (the “Policy”) is to protect the interests
of American Council of Engineering Companies of Pennsylvania (the “Organization” and
“ACEC/PA”) when it is contemplating entering into a transaction or arrangement that might benefit
or appear to benefit the private interest of any present or former director, officer, employee, or
volunteer of the Organization, indirectly benefit a Related Party, or result in a possible Excess Benefit
Transaction. The Organization is organized to serve the public interest, and each director, officer,
employee, and volunteer must act and use good judgment to maintain and further the public’s trust and
confidence in the Organization.

1.2 This Policy establishes guidelines, procedures, and requirements for:

(a) Identifying a Conflict of Interest and situations that may result in an actual,
potential, or perceived Conflict of Interest; and

(b) Appropriately managing a Conflict of Interest in accordance with legal
requirements and the goals of accountability and transparency.

1.3 This Policy -applies to all directors, officers, employees, and volunteers of the
Organization. All directors, officers, employees, and volunteers must familiarize themselves with and
adhere to the principles and rules set out in this Policy.

1.4 This Policy is intended to supplement but not replace any state and federal laws
governing conflicts of interest applicable to non-profit and charitable organizations.

1.5 Any questions about this Policy should be referred to Leeann Sherman (800.651.1946;
leeann(@acecpa.org), who is in charge of administering and updating this Policy.

ARTICLE II
DEFINITIONS

2.1 “Conflict of Interest” means situations where, in the judgment of the Organization’s
board of directors:

(a) The outside interests or activities (such as Covered Interests) of a director,
officer, employee, or volunteer interfere or compete with the Organization’s interests.

(b) The stake of a director, officer, employee, or volunteer in a transaction or
arrangement is such that it reduces the likelihood that such person’s influence can be exercised
impartially in the best interests of the Organization.

() A director, officer, employee, or volunteer has divided loyalties.

(d) An Excess Benefit Transaction would occur.

A6498262:2



2.2 “Covered Interest” means when any director, officer, employee, or volunteer has
directly, or indirectly through a Related Party:

(a) An ownership or investment interest in any entity with which the Organization
has a transaction or arrangement.

(b) A compensation arrangement with the Organization or with any entity or
individual with which the Organization has a transaction or arrangement.

© A potential ownership or investment interest in, or compensation arrangement
with, any entity or individual with which the Organization is negotiating a transaction or arrangement.

(d) A legal commitment or financial interest, including by virtue of a board
appointment, employment position, or volunteer arrangement, to act in the interests of another entity
or individual,

(e) Compensation includes direct and indirect remuneration as well as gifts or
favors that are not insubstantial. A Covered Interest is not necessarily a Conflict of Interest. Under
Section 3.2, a person who has a Covered Interest may have a Conflict of Interest only if the board
decides that a Conflict of Interest exists.

2.3 “Excess Benefit Transaction” means any transaction in which an economic benefit is
provided by the Organization, directly or indirectly, to or for the use of a disqualified person and the
value of the economic benefit provided by the Organization exceeds the value of the consideration
(including the performance of services) received by the Organization. A “disqualified person” is any
person who was in a position to exercise substantial influence over the affairs of the non-profit at any
time during a five-year lookback period, ending on the date of the transaction, and includes but is not
limited to the Organization’s directors, officers, and Related Parties, as defined herein.

2.4 “Interested Person™ means any director, officer, employee, or volunteer who has a
direct or indirect Covered Interest.

2.5 “Related Party” means any one of the following persons or entities:

(a) Any director, officer, employee, or volunteer of the Organization or its
affiliates. -

b) Any Relative of any individual described in subsection 2.5(a) above.

©) Any entity or trust of which any individual described in subsection 2.5(a) or
2.5(b) above serves as a director, trustee, officer, employee, or volunteer.

(d) Any entity or trust in which any individual described in subsection 2.5(a) or
2.5(b) above has a thirty-five percent (35%) or greater ownership or beneficial interest.

(e) Any partnership or professional corporation in which any individual described

in subsection 2.5(a) or 2.5(b) above has a direct or indirect ownership interest in excess of five percent
(5%).

A6498262:2 10.16.18 2



) Any other entity or trust in which any individual described in subsection 2.5(a)
or 2.5(b) above has a material financial interest.

2.6 “Relative” means any one of the following persons:
(a) The spouse or domestic partner of an Interested Person.
(b) The ancestors of an Interested Person.

© The siblings or half-siblings, children (whether natural or adopted),
grandchildren, and great-grandchildren of an Interested Person.

(d) The spouse or domestic partner of any person described in subsection 2.6(c)
above.

ARTICLE III
PROCEDURES

31 Duty to Disclose. An Interested Person must disclose the existence of any actual,
potential, or perceived Conflict of Interest as soon as such Interested Person identifies that there may
be a Conflict of Interest, and before the Organization enters into the proposed transaction or
arrangement that gives rise to the Conflict of Interest.

(a) The disclosure shall be made to:
@) the board of directors if the Interested Person is a director or officer; or

(i) the Interested Person’s manager if the Interested Person is an employee
or volunteer, who shall in turn inform the board of directors of the disclosed Conflict of Interest.

(b) The Interested Person shall be given the opportunity to disclose all material
facts to the board of directors concerning the proposed transaction or arrangement, including the
circumstances giving rise to the Conflict of Interest.

3.2 Determining Whether a Conflict of Interest Exists. After disclosure of the actual,
potential, or perceived Conflict of Interest, the board shall determine whether a Conflict of Interest
exists by following the procedures described in this Section 3.2:

(a) The Interested Person shall disclose all material facts relating to the potential
Conflict of Interest to the board.

b) After any discussion between the board and the Interested Person, the
Interested Person shall leave the board meeting while the determination of a Conflict of Interest is
discussed and voted upon.

(©) The board members, other than the conflicted Interested Person(s), shall decide
if a Conflict of Interest exists. If the remaining board determines by majority vote that no conflict
exists, no further review of the transaction by the board is required if not ordinarily required in the
normal course of business. The discussion and determination of the existence of a Conflict of Interest
shall be documented in accordance with the procedures outlined in Article [V below.

AG498262:2 10.16.18 3



(d) The determination that a Conflict of Interest exists shall not preclude the board
(other than the conflicted Interested Person(s)) from approving the matter, but such determination shall
require the board to follow the procedures outlined in Section 3.3 below.

33 Procedures for Addressing the Conflict of Interest. To address a Conflict of Interest,
the board shall follow the procedures described in this Section 3:

(a) An Interested Person may make a presentation at the board meeting, but after
the presentation, the Interested Person shall leave the meeting during the discussion of, and the vote
on, the transaction or arrangement involving the Conflict of Interest.

b) The Interested Person shall not attempt to intervene with or improperly
influence the deliberations or voting on the matter giving rise to the Conflict of Interest.

(©) The chairperson of the board shall, if appropriate, appoint a disinterested
person or committee to investigate market information and alternatives to the proposed transaction or
arrangement, including obtaining comparability data when determining compensation.

(d) After exercising due diligence, the board shall determine whether the
Organization can obtain with reasonable efforts a more advantageous transaction or arrangement from
a person or entity that would not give rise to a Conflict of Interest.

(e) If a more advantageous transaction or arrangement is not reasonably possible
under circumstances not producing a Conflict of Interest, the board shall determine by a majority vote
of the disinterested directors whether the transaction or arrangement is: (i) in the Organization’s best
interests; (ii) for its own benefit; and (iii) fair and reasonable.

H In conformity with the above determinations, the board shall make its decision
as to whether to enter into the transaction or arrangement.

3.4 Violations of the Conflict of Interest Policy.

(a) If the board has reasonable cause to believe an Interested Person has failed to
disclose an actual, potential, or perceived Conflict of Interest, it shall inform the Interested Person of
the basis for such belief and afford the Interested Person an opportunity to explain the alleged failure
to disclose.

(b) If, after hearing the Interested Person’s response and after making further
investigation as warranted by the circumstances, the board determines the Interested Person has failed
to disclose an actual, potential, or perceived Conflict of Interest, it shall take appropriate disciplinary
and corrective action, up to and including termination of employment or volunteering, or removal from
the board.

(© Each director, officer, employee, and volunteer is responsible for reporting to
his or her manager or to the board any suspected failure to disclose by any Interested Person, regardless

of position, in accordance with the Organization’s whistleblower policy.

(d) Conduct that violates this Policy is always considered outside the scope of
employment of any employee acting on behalf of the Organization.

A6498262:2 10.16.18 4



3.5 Confidentiality.

(a) The Organization shall maintain the confidentiality of any disclosures made in
connection with this Policy and limit access to the information in accordance with the Organization’s
privacy policy.

)] Each director, officer, employee, and volunteer shall exercise care not to use,
publish, or disclose confidential information acquired in connection with disclosures of actual,
potential, or perceived Conflicts of Interest during or subsequent to his or her employment,
participation as a volunteer, or participation on the board of directors.

ARTICLE IV
RECORDS OF PROCEEDINGS

4.1 The minutes of the meeting(s) of the board shall contain:

(a) (i) The names of the persons who disclosed or otherwise were found to have an
actual, potential, or perceived Conflict of Interest; (ii) the nature of the disclosed interest; (iii) any
action taken to determine whether a Conflict of Interest was present; (iv) whether the Interested Person
was present during the determination; and (v) the board’s decision as to whether a Conflict of Interest
in fact existed.

(b) (i) The names of the persons who were present for discussions by the board of
the proposed transaction or arrangement; (ii) the votes relating to the transaction or arrangement; (iii)
the content of the discussion, including any alternatives to the proposed transaction or arrangement;
and (iv) a record of any votes taken in connection with the proceedings.

4.2 The board minutes shall be approved as reasonable, accurate, and complete before the
later of:

(a) The next board meeting.
(b) Sixty (60) days after the final actions of the board are taken.

ARTICLE V
COMPENSATION

5.1 A voting member of the board who receives compensation, directly or indirectly, from
the Organization for services is precluded from voting on matters pertaining to that member’s
compensation.

5.2 A voting member of any committee whose jurisdiction includes compensation matters
and who receives compensation, directly or indirectly, from the Organization for services is precluded
from voting on matters pertaining to that member’s compensation.

5.3 No voting member of the board or any committee whose jurisdiction includes
compensation matters and who receives compensation, directly or indirectly, from the Organization,
either individually or collectively, is prohibited from providing information to any committee
regarding compensation.

A6498262:2 10.16.18 5



ARTICLE VI
ANNUAL STATEMENTS AND DISCLOSURES

6.1 Each director, officer, employee, and volunteer shall annually disclose all Conflicts of
Interest and previously unreported Conflicts of Interest in writing on the Organization’s disclosure
form in accordance with this Policy and sign a statement that affirms that such person:

(a) Has received a copy of this Policy;
(b) Has read and understands this Policy;
(©) Has agreed to comply with this Policy;

(d) Has no Conflict of Interest to report or is reporting current and any previously
unreported Conflicts of Interest; and

6.2 Understands that in order to maintain its federal tax exemption, the Organization must
engage primarily in activities that accomplish one or more of its tax-exempt purposes.

ARTICLE VII
PERIODIC REVIEWS

7.1 To ensure the Organization operates in a manner consistent with purposes and does not
engage in activities that could jeopardize its reputation or tax-exempt status, periodic reviews shall be
conducted. The periodic reviews shall, at a minimum, include the following subjects:

(a) Whether compensation arrangements and benefits are: (i) reasonable; (ii) based
on competent survey information; and (iii) the result of arm’s length bargaining; and

()} Whether partnerships, joint ventures, and arrangements with management
organizations: (i) conform to the Organization’s written policies; (ii) are properly recorded; (iii) reflect
reasonable investment or payments for goods and services; (iv) further charitable purposes; and (v) do
not result in inurement, impermissible private benefit, or an Excess Benefit Transaction.

7.2 The Organization expressly reserves the right to change, modify, or delete the
provisions of this Policy without notice.

ARTICLE VIII
USE OF OUTSIDE EXPERTS

8.1 When conducting a Conflict of Interest determination as provided for in Article I1I or
a periodic review as provided for in Article VII, the organization may, but need not, use outside
advisors. If outside experts are used, their use shall not relieve the board of its fiduciary duties or
responsibilities when considering a transaction or arrangement with an Interested Person or Related
Party, or for ensuring periodic reviews are conducted.

A6498262:2 10.16.18 6



ANNUAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

I am a member of the Board of Directors of American Council of Engineering Companies of
Pennsylvania (the “Organization™), or I am an officer or other key employee of the Organization. I
understand that while serving in that role, I am ethically and legally bound to act in the best interests of
the Organization.

1. As a matter of full disclosure, I represent to the Organization that, as of the date set forth
below, I am affiliated with the following other organization(s) due to (a) my being employed by such
organization(s); (b) my service on the governing board(s) of such organizations; or (¢) my holding an
ownership/investment interest of at least five percent (5%) in such organization(s):

(@
Name of Organization Nature of Interest
Address

(b)
Name of Organization Nature of Interest
Address

(©)
Name of Organization Nature of Interest
Address

(C))
Name of Organization Nature of Interest
Address

2. I hereby acknowledge that:
(a) 'have received a copy of the Organization’s Conflict of Interest Policy (the “Policy™);
(b) I have read and understand the Policy;
(c) Iagree to comply with the Policy;
(d) I understand that the Organization is a charitable organization and that in order to
maintain its federal tax exemption, it must engage primarily in activities that

accomplish one or of its tax-exempt purposes.

3. I hereby acknowledge that I have an ongoing obligation to disclose any financial interest
in the transactions or arrangements of the Organization.

A6500473:1 10.16.18



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Conflict of Interest Statement is executed by the undersigned the
day of , 20

Signature

Please print or type the name of the Board
membet/officer/key employee

A6500473:1 10.16.18



AMERICAN COUNCIL OF ENGINEERING COMPANIES OF PENNSYLVANIA
CODE OF CONDUCT STATEMENT

ARTICLE 1
PURPOSE

The American Council of Engineering Companies of Pennsylvania (“ACEC/PA”) directors
and officers are responsible for setting the direction of the organization, and providing proper
oversight, in pursuit of the ACEC/PA’s mission. Accordingly, directors and officers owe a fiduciary
obligation to act in the best interest of the ACEC/PA. This Code of Conduct articulates this obligation.

The Code of Conduct, however, cannot anticipate every situation that may arise; it is solely
intended to provide guidance for situations that may be presented.

In an effort to achieve the highest standards of conduct, each director and officer is requested
to acknowledge (by signing) the following Code of Conduct statement. This acknowledgement will be
kept on file by ACEC/PA’s executive office.

ARTICLE II
CODE OF CONDUCT STATEMENT

In support of ACEC/PA’s standards of high ethical conduct, I will endeavor to the best of my
ability to:
(a) Recognize that the chief function of ACEC/PA at all times is to serve the best interests of our
members.

(b) Comply with the organization’s bylaws, policies, and all applicable laws and regulations that
govern the actions of the organization.

(c) Adhere to my fiduciary responsibilities.
(d) Avoid any interest or activity that is in conflict with the conduct of our official duties.

(e) Disclose any conflict of interests, of which I am aware, in a timely fashion as required by
ACEC/PA’s Conflict of Interest Policy.

(f) Maintain the confidentiality of the organization.

(g) Not obtain a personal advantage or benefit due to relationships established by use of the
organization’s name.

(h) Promote a working environment that values trust, candor, respect, and open and honest
communication.

(i) Foster a culture of inquiry and constructive debate that leads to sound and shared decision making.

A6502326:2



In recognizing the important responsibility that I am undertaking in serving as a member of the
Board of Directors of the American Council of Engineering Companies of Pennsylvania, I hereby
pledge to carry out in a trustworthy and diligent manner the duties and obligations associated with my role
as a Director and abide by this Code of Conduct.

I understand that failure to abide by this Code of Conduct may result in removal pursuant to
the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

Signature

Printed Name

Date

Code of Conduct: Trustee Statement of Confirmation



ACEC/PA

AMERICAN COUNCIL OF ENGINEERING COMPANTES
of Pennsylvania

Pledge to Pennsylvania

As members of the American Council of Engineering Companies of Pennsylvania and as an
important and learned profession, we recognize that our work has a direct and vital impact on the
quality of life for all Pennsylvanians. Accordingly, we commit ourselves and our firms to:

%

*

*
o

.
b

7
g

First, hold paramount the health and welfare of the public in the performance of our
professional duties.

Second, require honesty, impartiality, and fairness on behalf of the public, clients,
employees, firms and the profession that we represent.

Third, act in professional matters for each client as faithful agents.

Fourth, enhance excellence in the business and human resource management of our firms
by working to improve our individual and collective performance.

Fifth, communicate openly and timely — seeking a comprehensive understanding of the
issues involving professional work and services.

Sixth, provide quality services and develop projects that result in value for our clients,
satisfaction for team members, and respect and distinction for the American Council of
Engineering Companies of Pennsylvania and the consulting engineering profession.

Seventh, encourage excellence by striving to create and deliver superior service.

FEighth, allocate the time and resources to support and promote the goals and actions of
the American Council of Engineering Companies of Pennsylvania.

Our signatures to this document affirm our commitment to this pledge as members of the
American Council of Engineering Companies of Pennsylvania.

Principal with signatory authority Leeann Sherman, Executive Director
and firm name

10/2018



